THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court Of Common Pleas

S. Jackson Kimball, Special Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-213352
Case No: 2012-CP-46-2692

Paul Sullivan as Personal Representative of the
Estate of Pauline C. Cook, Respondent,

v.

Park Pointe Village, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of
ACTS Retirement-Life Communities, Inc., Neva Lattimer,
and Marvin Lawrence, Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

R. Gerald Chambers, Jr. (Bar No. 12065)
Carmelo B. Sammataro (Bar No. 69746)
TURNER PADGET GRAHAM & LANEY P.A.
Post Office Box 1473
Columbia, SC 29202
Phone: (803) 254-2200
Fax: (803) 799-3957

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DETERMINATION THAT THE RESIDENT CONTRACT DOES NOT INVOLVE INTERSTATE COMMERCE AND, THEREFORE, DOES NOT TRIGGER APPLICATION OF THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT CONSTITUTE REVERSIBLE ERROR?

- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN APPLYING THE SOUTH CAROLINA UNIFORM ARBITRATION ACT TO IMPOSE ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS TO INVALIDATE THE ARBITRATION PROVISION OF THE RESIDENT CONTRACT?

INTRODUCTION

In a three page, *per curiam* opinion, the Supreme Court of the United States directly addressed the issue presented in this appeal; to wit, whether there exists a sufficient nexus with interstate commerce “to make enforceable, pursuant to the FAA, an arbitration agreement” included within the contract between the parties. *The Citizens Bank v. Alafabco, Inc.*, 539 U.S. 52 (2003). In light of its prior pronouncements defining “the term ‘involving commerce’ in the FAA¹ as the functional equivalent of the more familiar term ‘affecting commerce’ -- words of art that ordinarily signal the broadest permissible exercise of Congress’ *Commerce Clause* power. . . .,” the Court encountered no difficulty rejecting the Supreme Court of Alabama’s “misguided” search for evidence that the agreements in question were “in commerce” and whether, in isolation, they had a “substantial effect on interstate commerce.” *Citizens Bank*, 539 U.S. at 56 (internal citations and quotation omitted). Instead, the Court explained a sufficient nexus exists “if in the aggregate the economic activity in question would represent ‘a general practice’ . . . subject to federal control” without any required showing of a “specific effect upon interstate commerce.” *Id.*, 539 U.S. at 56-57 (emphasis added).

The *Citizens Bank* holding relies upon the express recognition of the “broad impact of commercial lending on the nation economy [and] Congress’ power to regulate that activity pursuant to the *Commerce Clause*.” 539 U.S. at 58. The key is the economic activity and the nearly unfettered ability of Congress to regulate it pursuant to its *Commerce Clause* powers. At issue in this case is an arbitration clause within a contract for assisted living services at an adult retirement community, and the comparison

¹ Federal Arbitration Act (hereinafter “FAA”), 9 U.S.C. § 16(9)(1).

is obvious. It would be absurd to argue that Congress' role in regulating the provision of health-care related services is any less expensive. Indeed, the circuit court recognized the broad exercise of *Commerce Clause* power by Congress in the healthcare field but nevertheless felt constrained to apply binding but antiquated South Carolina precedent to reach the erroneous conclusion that the arbitration provision is not subject to the FAA because "nothing in the Resident Contract evidences a 'transaction involving interstate commerce.'" (R. p. 9; p. 185, lines 11-15) Compounding its error, the circuit court imposed rigorous statutory requirements intended to single out the arbitration provision at issue in direct contravention of binding authority expressly forbidding disparate treatment of arbitration provisions versus contract provisions in general.

Further, the circuit court's reliance on *Timms v. Greene*, 310 S.C. 469, 427 S.E.2d 642 (1993) ("the contract must objectively evidence, in writing, a transaction involving interstate commerce."), to reject application of the FAA in this matter constitutes error because *Timms* has been effectively overruled by later holdings by the Supreme Court of the United States clarifying the broad scope of the FAA and vacating State hostility to its enforcement. As a result, the order denying Appellants' amended motion to compel arbitration should be reversed, and Respondent's claims must be submitted to arbitration.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature Of The Case.

This appeal arises from the order of the Court of Common Pleas for York County entered November 7, 2012, which denied Appellants' amended motion to dismiss or, in the alternative, to compel arbitration (the "amended motion") in this wrongful-death and survival action. Appellants' amended motion was predicated upon an arbitration provision contained within the Resident Contract Respondent's Decedent Pauline C. Cook (hereinafter "Cook") signed upon her admission to the assisted living wing of Park Pointe Village in Rock Hill, South Carolina, on or about January 1, 2006.

This appeal is taken pursuant to the FAA. Appellants timely served Respondent with their Notice of Appeal on November 9, 2012, and filed the notice with this Court the same day.

II. Proceedings And Disposition Below.

A. The Arbitration Agreement.

On or about January 1, 2006, Cook and Park Pointe Village, Inc. (hereinafter "Park Pointe") entered into the Resident Contract applicable to Cook's admission to Oak Bridge Terrace, the assisted living section of Park Pointe Village. (R. pp. 25-74) Pursuant to the Resident Contract, Park Pointe agreed to provide "the Residential Unit, together with the facilities, services and medical care . . . until the Resident's death or earlier termination of this Contract." (R. p. 35, § 1) Park Pointe's obligation to provide the residential unit, facilities, services, and medical care extended to Cook "regardless of a change in medical condition." (R. p. 36, §2.4)

As reflected in Section 21 of the Resident Contract, Cook and Park Pointe anticipated and agreed that any dispute arising out of their contract would be subject to binding arbitration. Specifically, Section 21 provides as follows:

SECTION 21. Arbitration

21.1 Procedural Rules

Any controversy, dispute or disagreement arising out of or relating to this Contract, or concerning any rights arising under this Contract or a breach of this Contract, shall be settled by voluntary arbitration. This arbitration shall be conducted on Company's property in accordance with the American Health Lawyers Association ("AHLA") Alternative Dispute Resolution Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitration. The decision shall be final, binding and non-appealable, and any court having proper jurisdiction may enter judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator.

(R. p. 70) (emphasis added)

The agreement to arbitrate expressly extends to disputes arising out of Park Pointe's provision of security services pursuant to Section 5.13 of the Resident Contract. (R. pp. 42-43, §§ 5.12, 5.13) ("Company will, as part of the services included in the Monthly Rate, provide certain security services at the Retirement Community in accordance with Company's prevailing policy which is subject to change from time to time.") Park Pointe contracted to "provide . . . security services" to Cook pursuant to the terms of the Resident Contract. (*Id.*)

B. The Pleadings

Respondent Paul Sullivan (hereinafter "Sullivan"), as Personal Representative of the Estate of Pauline C. Cook, initiated these proceedings with the filing of his Summons and Complaint in the court of common pleas for York County on or about July 25, 2012,

followed by a Summons and Amended Complaint² on or about September 5, 2012. In his Amended Complaint, Sullivan alleges that Appellant Park Pointe is a retirement community that provides independent living residences and access to assisted living and nursing care. (R. p. 137, ¶ 8) He also alleges that Cook and her husband came to Park Pointe Village in 1998 and that Cook transitioned into assisted living in July 2011 given her propensity to fall. (R. pp. 137-138, ¶ 10)

Sullivan acknowledges that Cook signed the Resident Contract and suggests that the Resident Contract gave rise to a duty on the part of Appellants to exercise due care in, among other things, providing security to Cook and other Park Pointe residents. (R. p. 141, ¶ 32) He also alleges that Park Pointe, Appellant Neva Lattimer (hereinafter “Lattimer”) and Appellant Marvin Lawrence (hereinafter “Lawrence”) breached the duty of care owed to Cook by, among other things, failing to take adequate security precautions to ensure the safety of Cook and other Park Pointe residents. (R. p. 139, ¶ 18; p. 141, ¶ 32(1)). Sullivan’s amended complaint includes causes of action for wrongful death and survival, as well as negligence, gross negligence, and negligent supervision, as well as a prayer for the award of actual damages, including “medical, surgical and hospital bills”, and punitive damages. (R. pp. 149-150, ¶ 78 and last unnumbered para.)

Appellants filed timely answers to the amended complaint, wherein they entered a general denial and asserted numerous substantive defenses, including incorporation by

² Sullivan filed his voluntary dismissal as to Defendant ACTS Retirement-Life Communities, Inc., on or about September 5, 2012, thereafter substituting as a defendant Park Point Village, Inc., improperly identified as Park Pointe Village, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of ACTS Retirement-Life Communities, Inc. The remaining facts and causes of action Sullivan alleges in his Amended Complaint were unchanged.

reference of the terms and conditions of the Resident Contract, specifically Section 21 relating to the agreement to submit claims arising under the Resident Contract to binding arbitration. (R. p. 88, ¶ 83; p. 108, ¶ 83; p. 129, ¶ 83) Appellants also affirmatively pled application of the FAA, 9 U.S.C. § 1, *et seq.*, and the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act (hereinafter “SCUAA”), S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-10, *et seq.*, as a bar to Sullivan’s tort-based claims. (R. p. 88, ¶ 82; p. 108, ¶ 82; p. 129, ¶ 82)

C. Appellants’ Amended Motion To Dismiss Or, In The Alternative, To Compel Arbitration.

In light of the agreement of the parties to arbitrate claims arising under the Resident Contract, as well as the strong state and federal policies favoring enforcement of arbitration agreements, Appellants moved for an order dismissing Sullivan’s amended complaint or, in the alternative, to compel arbitration via written motion filed August 27, 2012, an amended motion filed September 21, 2012, and a supporting memorandum. In support of their amended motion, Appellants argued that the arbitration provision of the Resident Contract is governed by the FAA inasmuch as the Resident Contract and the services provided thereunder necessarily involve interstate commerce. (R. pp. 21-22) Moreover, Appellants urged the circuit court to follow the modern trend in South Carolina’s courts towards a more liberal enforcement of arbitration provisions even where those agreements do not conform with the rigid requirements of the SCUAA. (*Id.*) Finally, Appellants argued that the arbitration provision is valid and enforceable and that it binds Sullivan as the personal representative of Cook’s Estate.

D. The Trial Court’s Order Denying The Amended Motion To Dismiss Or, In The Alternative, To Compel Arbitration.

Following oral argument on October 18, 2012, the circuit court denied

Appellants' amended motion via written order entered November 7, 2012. The circuit court's order denied the motion on two express grounds. First, the circuit court determined that "nothing in the Resident Contract evidences a 'transaction involving interstate commerce.' Thus, the FAA does not apply." (R. p. 4) Relying upon *Timms*, 310 S.C. 469, 427 S.E.2d 642, the circuit court grossly over-simplified the nature of services provided pursuant to the Resident Contract to bolster its erroneous conclusion that interstate commerce is not implicated. (*Id.*) ("[T]he Residential Unit was located in York County, South Carolina, as were all other facilities contemplated by the contract³ [and,] . . . as contemplated in the Resident Contract, all services were provided on site.") The circuit court also emphasized that the Resident Contract does not mention the FAA or refer to federal arbitration but instead contains a choice of law provision favoring application of South Carolina law.

Second, the circuit court determined, incorrectly, that this dispute is not subject to arbitration because the Resident Contract fails to conform to the formalities set forth in SCUAA, specifically S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-10(a), and because § 15-48-10(b) exempts from binding arbitration claims arising out of a tort-based personal injury claim. (R. p. 5) In light of its erroneous conclusions regarding the perceived lack of a nexus with interstate commerce and the "local" nature of the contract between the parties, the circuit court declined to address Sullivan's additional arguments in opposition to the motion to compel arbitration.

³ This assertion is incorrect inasmuch as the Resident Contract specifically contemplates the provision of assisted living and nursing services to Cook at other "affiliated" communities, none of which are located in South Carolina. (R. p. 38, §§ 4.5, 4.6)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On or about January 1, 2006, Cook and Park Pointe entered into the Resident Contract applicable to Cook's admission to the Park Pointe Village retirement community located in Rock Hill, South Carolina. (R. pp. 25-74) At all times relevant to this appeal, Cook was a resident in Oak Bridge Terrace, the assisted living wing at Park Pointe Village. (R. p. 77, ¶ 10) Park Pointe is a non-profit corporation that qualifies as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. (R. p. 75, ¶ 2) Park Pointe owns and operates Park Pointe Village, which provides the services described in its Resident Contract⁴. (R. pp. 76-77, ¶ 8) At the time of the events giving rise to Sullivan's amended complaint, Lattimer was employed as Director of Resident Nursing at Park Pointe Village. (R. p. 77, ¶ 14) Lawrence worked as a cook at Park Pointe Village. (R. p. 76, ¶ 4)

As reflected in Section 21 of the Resident Contract, Cook and Park Pointe anticipated and agreed that any dispute arising out of their contract would be subject to binding arbitration. (R. p. 70) This agreement to arbitrate extended to disputes arising out of Park Pointe's provision of security services pursuant to Sections 5.12 and 5.13 of the Resident Contract. (R. p. 43) ("Company will, as part of the services included in the Monthly Rate, provide certain security services at the Retirement Community in

⁴ The Resident Contract defines "assisted living residence" as "[a] licensed assisted living residence which provides Assisted Living Services under this Contract and which may or may not be located on the campus of Retirement Community." (R. p. 31) "Assisted living services" means "[a]ssistance with activities of daily living, such as eating, bathing, dressing, grooming and toileting, provided in an Assisted Living Residence." (*Id.*)

accordance with the Company's prevailing policy which is subject to change from time to time.")

In his amended complaint, Sullivan alleges that on Saturday, November 12, 2011, Cook discovered someone was writing and cashing unauthorized checks drawn on her checking account and that the checks in question were made payable to "Braquette Walton" (hereinafter "Walton"). (R. p. 138, ¶ 11) Sullivan further alleges that Lawrence informed Cook that Walton was a Park Pointe employee and suggested that Cook bring the matter to the attention of Walton's supervisor, Lattimer. (*Id.*, ¶¶ 12-13) After their meeting, Lattimer and Cook turned the matter over to local law enforcement. (R. p. 78, ¶ 16) At the same time, it is alleged that Lawrence contacted Walton to confront her about the forged checks. (R. p. 97, ¶ 15)

Later in the evening of November 12, 2011, Walton, who was not scheduled to be on duty, accessed the grounds at Park Pointe Village and entered Oak Bridge Terrace using her employee access badge. (R. p. 139, ¶ 20) It is alleged that she concealed herself until she could enter Cook's room undetected by Park Pointe staff. (*Id.*, ¶¶ 21-22) It is further alleged that Walton confronted Cook about the forged checks, murdered Cook, and then staged the room to make it appear as if Cook sustained fatal injuries after falling in the shower. (R. pp. 139-140, ¶¶ 22-26) Park Pointe staff discovered Cook's remains during the early morning hours of November 13, 2011. (R. p. 80, ¶ 27)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In South Carolina, “the determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is subject to *de novo* review.” *Aiken v. World Finance Corporation of South Carolina*, 373 S.C. 144, 148, 644 S.E.2d 705, 707 (2007) (citing *Wellman, Inc. v. Square D Co.*, 366 S.C. 61, 67, 620 S.E.2d 86, 29 (Ct. App. 2005). At the same time, the findings of fact by the circuit court will not be reversed where “any evidence reasonably supports the findings.” *Id.* (citing *Thornton v. Trident Med. Ctr., L.L.C.*, 357 S.C. 91, 94, 592 S.E.2d 50, 51 (Ct. App. 2003).

ARGUMENT

In this case, the circuit court's manifest errors in denying the motion to compel arbitration require reversal. First, the circuit court erroneously disregarded binding precedent from the Supreme Court of the United States to conclude that the written agreement at issue does not involve interstate commerce, thereby triggering application of the FAA. Second, the circuit court erred in applying provisions of the SCUAA in a manner that imposed heightened requirements upon arbitration agreements specifically and not upon all contracts generally, again in violation of clear and binding precedent to the contrary. In light of the agreement of the parties to arbitrate claims arising under the Resident Contract, which specifically and admittedly contemplates the provision of security services, as well as the strong state and federal policies favoring enforcement of arbitration agreements, the order of the circuit court denying the motion to compel arbitration is in error and must be reversed.

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DETERMINATION THAT THE RESIDENT CONTRACT DOES NOT INVOLVE INTERSTATE COMMERCE AND, THEREFORE, DOES NOT TRIGGER APPLICATION OF THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT CONSTITUTES REVERSIBLE ERROR.

Sullivan wrongly contends, and the circuit court erroneously concluded, that the FAA does not apply to the arbitration provision of the Resident Contract. This was error. Contrary to the restrictive view adopted by the circuit court, that the underlying agreement between the parties must actually touch interstate commerce, the FAA applies to arbitration agreements that are part of a written contract "evidencing a transaction involving commerce." 9 U.S.C. § 2. The circuit court's ruling to the contrary in this case is incorrect in several respects.

The arbitration provision of the Resident Contract unquestionably implicates interstate commerce as contemplated by the FAA and applicable precedent. “The FAA has an expansive reach, similar to that of the Commerce Clause” *THI of S.C. at Columbia, LLC v. Wiggins*, No. 3:11-888-CMC, 2011 WL 4089435, at *1 n. 3 (D.S.C. Sept. 13, 2011) (citing *Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265, 273-74 (1995)); *Blanton v. Stathos*, 351 S.C. 534, 540, 570 S.E.2d 565, 568 (Ct. App. 2002). In addition, “Congress’ *Commerce Clause* power may be exercised in individual cases without showing any specific effect upon interstate commerce if *in the aggregate* the economic activity in question would present a general practice . . . subject to federal control.” *Citizens Bank*, 539 U.S. at 56-57 (2003) (internal quotations and citations omitted) (emphasis added). In order to determine whether a transaction involves interstate commerce under the FAA, the court examines the agreement, complaint, and surrounding facts. *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 594, 553 S.E.2d 110, 117 (2001).

The Supreme Court of the United States has long recognized that the FAA’s expansive application to agreements “involving interstate commerce” reflects the intent of Congress to exercise power to the fullest extent permitted by the *Commerce Clause*. *Citizens Bank*, 539 U.S. at 56 (“We have interpreted the term ‘involving commerce’ in the FAA as the functional equivalent of the more familiar term ‘affecting commerce’ -- words of art that ordinarily signal the broadest possible exercise of Congress’ *Commerce Clause* power.”). For example, in *Citizens Bank*, the Court concluded that a debt restructuring agreement executed in Alabama between an Alabama bank and an Alabama construction company involved interstate commerce because the debt was secured by an

inventory of goods assembled from out-of-state materials. 539 U.S. at 57. In *Preston v. Ferrer*, 552 U.S. 346, 354 (2008), the Court held that a personal services contract between an California agent and a client involved interstate commerce because the client worked as a nationally syndicated television personality.

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