THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S. Jackson Kimball, Special Circuit Court Judge

Case No: 2012-CP-46-2692
Appellate Case No: 2012-213352

Paul Sullivan as Personal Representative of the
Estate of Pauline C. Cook,.....Respondent,

v.

Park Pointe Village, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of
ACTS Retirement-Life Communities, Inc., Neva Lattimer,
and Marvin Lawrence,.....Appellants.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Richard A. Harpootlian (Bar No. 2725)
Graham L. Newman (Bar No. 72845)
M. David Scott (Bar No. 68667)
RICHARD A. HARPOOTLIAN, P.A.
1410 Laurel Street
Post Office Box 1090
Columbia, South Carolina 29202

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

Marmet and the underlying facts as set forth in Brown v. Genesis Healthcare Corp. are distinguishable. In those cases, the interstate commerce issue was not dispositive, or even relevant to the Court's conclusion. The parties opposing arbitration in Marmet and Brown conceded at the state court level that the contracts affected interstate commerce. The issue before the Supreme Court was whether a West Virginia

law that applied only to contracts involving the provision of nursing home services would foreclose arbitration where the FAA admittedly applied. Before the case reached the Supreme Court, the state court had already found “substantial evidence” that the contracts affected interstate commerce. Here, Appellants presented no evidence the Resident Contract affects interstate commerce; thus, their reliance on Marmet is misplaced.

As our Supreme Court recently observed in Bradley, supra, the party arguing in favor of FAA preemption bears the burden of proving by sufficient evidence that the transaction involved interstate commerce in order to subject the agreement to the FAA. Id. Appellants essentially ask this Court to take judicial notice that the Resident Contract effects interstate commerce, even where Appellants have presented *no evidence* of a connection.

D. Appellants argue that the contractual references to Medicare somehow establish federal preemption.

Appellants never argued this to the trial court and they are not permitted under the rules of appellate procedure to raise an argument for the first time on appeal. See, e.g., Pye v. Estate of Fox, 369 S.C. 555, 564, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006) (“It is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved.”). Furthermore, even if they had properly presented and preserved the argument, the Appellants presented no evidence that Pauline Cook actually applied for or received Medicare or that the Appellants accepted payment from Medicare. The only thing in the record is the argument of counsel, which, of course, is not competent evidence of anything. See S.C. Dep’t of Transp., supra. Moreover, the Resident Contract does not require all residents to enroll in Medicare, as

Appellants argue. The specific clause that Appellants cite in their brief contains an exception: “If not eligible for Medicare, Resident will enroll in some other insurance program providing equivalent benefits as approved in writing by Company.” (“Resident Contract,” p. 13, paragraph 6.7). Contrary to Appellants’ argument (not raised below) the Resident Contract *did not require* residents to enroll in Medicare.

Apart from introducing the Resident Contract and relying on the unsupported arguments of counsel, Appellants made no attempt to show by competent evidence that the Resident Contract had any nexus to or effect on interstate commerce. As the party moving to invoke FAA preemption, this was their burden and they failed to carry it. For the reasons set forth above, the Court should affirm the circuit court’s conclusion that the FAA does not apply to preempt application of South Carolina law.

II. The Circuit Court did not err in concluding the Resident Contract did not comply with the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act.

Appellants argue the Circuit Court erred in applying the heightened requirements of the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-48-10, *et seq.* (“SCUAA”). Appellants’ argument necessarily ignores the fact that it failed to produce any evidence to the trial court that the Resident Contract affected interstate commerce. Appellants based their entire argument to the trial court on their claim that Timms v. Green, *supra*, (binding authority as Appellants admitted in the trial court) has been implicitly overruled by the United States Supreme Court, and the FAA preempts application of the SCUAA. However, as set forth above, Appellants failed to present evidence sufficient to invoke FAA preemption, as was their burden. The Resident Contract, per its plain and unambiguous terms, contains a choice of law provision stating that South Carolina law shall apply to any and all disputes. Paragraph 23.9 of the

Contract provides that “All matters affecting the interpretation of this Contract and the rights and obligations of the parties hereto shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of South Carolina.” (See “Resident Contract,” page 38, ¶ 23.9). Nowhere does the Resident Contract make any reference to the FAA, 9 U.S.C.A. §§ 1, *et seq.*, or otherwise provide that any law other than South Carolina law shall govern the parties’ rights under the contract.

The Resident Contract clearly does not comply with the SCUAA. First, the Resident Contract does not comport with S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-10(a) (Supp. 2011) (“Notice that a contract is subject to arbitration pursuant to this chapter shall be typed in underlined capital letters, or rubber-stamped prominently, on the first page of the contract and unless such notice is displayed thereon the contract shall not be subject to arbitration.”). This alone is enough to affirm the trial court’s denial of the motion to compel arbitration.

In addition to this failure, Appellants’ request for arbitration attempts to circumvent S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-10(b)(4) (Supp. 2011). That section expressly provides that the SCUAA shall not apply to “[a]ny claim arising out of personal injury, based on contract or tort, or to any insured or beneficiary under any insurance policy or annuity contract.” Perhaps recognizing the fallacy of their argument that the SCUAA compels arbitration – it clearly leads to the opposite conclusion – Appellants focus their argument on the interstate commerce nexus, which they failed to support with any evidence at the trial level. Only on appeal do they make any real attempt to substantiate the argument.

The record supports the trial court's conclusion that the Resident Contract does not comply with the SCUAA and the Court should affirm this conclusion.

III. Respondent presented several additional grounds to the trial court which, although the trial court did not address them in its order, sustain the trial court's conclusion.

A. Outrageous conduct was not contemplated by the parties at the time they formed a contract.

The actions alleged in the complaint arise out of the brutal murder of an 84 year-old assisted living patient. It is difficult to imagine a more horrendous death than that endured by Pauline, at the hands of one of the very people to whom she entrusted her safety. While Pauline is obviously not available to testify as to what she intended when she signed the residential services agreement, it defies logic and common sense that she would have agreed to arbitrate a dispute arising out of such a horrific set of facts.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has twice applied a

definitive rule for determining whether a significant relationship exists between a dispute between parties to a contract and the underlying contract. Because even the most broadly-worded arbitration agreements still have limits founded in general principles of contract law, this Court will refuse to interpret any arbitration agreement as applying to outrageous torts that are unforeseeable to a reasonable consumer in the context of normal business dealings.

Aiken v. World Finance Corp. of S.C., 373 S.C. 144, 151, 644 S.E.2d 705, 709 (2007).

Aiken recognized the legal truism that "arbitration is matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed to arbitrate." Id. at 149, 644 S.E.2d at 708.

The facts in Aiken, as set forth by Chief Justice Toal in the majority opinion, are as follows: Richard Aiken filed a lawsuit in circuit court against World Finance Corporation of South Carolina and World Acceptance Corporation alleging tortious

conduct arising from the misuse of Aiken's personal financial information by the defendants' employees. The employees obtained Aiken's information from a loan application and other documents he submitted to World Finance. As part of the loan approval process, Aiken signed multiple documents that contained a broadly-worded arbitration agreement. Each arbitration clause provided that "ALL CONTROVERSIES OR CLAIMS OF ANY KIND AND NATURE BETWEEN LENDER AND BORROWER ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE LOAN AGREEMENT . . . SHALL BE SUBMITTED TO ARBITRATION AND SETTLED BY ARBITRATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE UNITED STATES ARBITRATION ACT" Id. at 147, 644 S.E.2d at 707. World Finance moved to compel arbitration after Aiken filed suit alleging that several employees of World Finance conspired to use Aiken's personal information to obtain sham loans and to embezzle the loan proceeds. Aiken's complaint alleged causes of action for outrage, negligence, negligent hiring/supervision and unfair trade practices.

The circuit court, the Court of Appeals, and the Supreme Court all refused to compel arbitration. The Supreme Court reasoned that

the "relationship" asserted by World Finance between Aiken's tort claims and the parties' prior dealings under the loan agreements hardly rises to the level of "significant." Applying what amounts to a "but-for" causation standard essentially includes every dispute imaginable between the parties, which greatly oversimplifies the parties' agreement to arbitrate claims between them. Such a result is illogical and unconscionable.

Id. at 150, 644 S.E.2d at 708. It followed that "in signing the agreement to arbitrate, Aiken could not possibly have been agreeing to provide an alternative forum for settling claims arising from [the employees'] wholly unexpected tortious conduct." Accordingly, the Court held that the plaintiff's claims for "unanticipated and unforeseeable tortious

conduct by World Finance's employees are not within the scope of the arbitration agreement with World Finance." Id. at 151, 644 S.E.2d at 709.

On the same day it decided Aiken, supra, the Supreme Court decided Chassereau v. Global Sun Pools, Inc., 373 S.C. 168, 644 S.E.2d 718 (2007). Chassereau agreed to purchase an above-ground swimming pool from Global Sun Pools and to pay for the pool in installments. After entering the purchase contract, which contained a similar arbitration clause as the one in Aiken, the pool began to malfunction. Chassereau alleged that Global Sun refused to repair the pool, and because of this refusal, Chassereau ceased making installment payments. Thereafter, an employee of Global Sun began "systemically harassing" Chassereau, by repeatedly phoning her at work, disclosing personal information to her friends, relatives, and co-workers, and allegedly making defamatory statements to these same people about Chassereau. Chassereau sued Global Sun and the employee for defamation, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and "unlawful communication." Id. at 169, 644 S.E.2d at 719.

The Court cited Aiken, wherein it had "refused to interpret an arbitration agreement with similar . . . language to apply to illegal or outrageous acts that no reasonable person would have foreseen at the time the parties executed the agreement to arbitrate." Id., at 172, 644 S.E.2d at 720. The Court affirmed the Court of Appeals' refusal to compel arbitration based on the following reasoning:

From the beginning of her relationship with Global-Sun, Chassereau certainly knew that she would be required to make payments on the pool she purchased. Furthermore, Chassereau must have expected that Global-Sun employees would contact her and request that she make payments on the pool if she ceased doing so. However, we believe a reasonable person would not have foreseen and would not have expected (and ought not to expect) Global-Sun employees to commit acts historically associated with the common law tort of outrage in seeking to collect an overdue debt. Our

opinion in Aiken unequivocally provides that although these types of uncivilized acts often arise in the course of performance of contracts containing arbitration clauses, South Carolina courts will not interpret arbitration clauses to apply to such acts which are outrageous and unforeseen.

Although we are constrained to resolve all doubts in favor of arbitration, this is not an absolute truism intended to replace careful judicial analysis. While actions taken in an arrangement such as the one entered into by these parties might have the potential to generate several legal claims and causes of action, we have no doubt that Chassereau did not intend to agree to arbitrate the claims she asserts in the instant case. Accordingly, we hold that these claims are not covered by the arbitration agreement at issue in the instant case.

Id., at 172-73, 644 S.E.2d at 720-21.

The allegations in this case are that Walton, an employee of the Appellant PPV, stole checks from Pauline and later forged those checks. After Pauline discovered the theft and contacted the police, another PPV employee, Appellant Lawrence, warned Walton that she was the subject of a police investigation. Even though PPV and its agents had every reason to know of the potential threat Walton posed to Pauline, they took no action to prevent her from gaining access to Pauline. Undeterred by her supervisors and alerted of the pending police investigator by her co-worker, Walton entered the premises using the entrance card provided to her by PPV, hid for a substantial period of time from the PPV staff on duty that night, then went into Pauline's unlocked and unattended room and beat her to death. The facts alleged in the complaint here are as egregious and extreme as almost anything imaginable.

Tragically, Pauline cannot testify to her intentions when she signed the Resident Contract, but surely she did not foresee or even contemplate that she would be robbed and then beaten to death while Appellants, PPV and its agents, stood by and undertook no efforts to protect her. The nexus between the Resident Contract and the acts complained

of is far more attenuated than the overzealous collection practices the Court in Chessereau found were not subject to arbitration. Likewise, the conduct alleged in Aiken – and found not subject to arbitration – pales in comparison to the conduct alleged here. It is difficult to imagine conduct more outrageous, reprehensible, and unforeseen than the acts alleged in the amended complaint. Pursuant to controlling South Carolina authority, the claims set forth therein are not covered by the arbitration clause.

Although the trial court chose not to address this argument in its order denying the motion to compel arbitration, the illegal and outrageous acts perpetrated upon Pauline Cook were unforeseeable to any reasonable consumer of assisted living services in the context of normal business dealings. Aiken and Chassereau are on point; the cases are controlling authority and they provide additional grounds upon which to sustain the trial court's order denying the motion to compel arbitration.²

B. Respondent is not a party to the contract.

As an additional reason to affirm the trial court, Respondent submits, as he did below, that he is not a party to the Resident Contract and should not be bound by the arbitration clause contained therein. The circuit court's order should be affirmed because the wrongful death action set forth in the complaint is brought for the benefit of persons who are not parties to the contract. See S.C. Code Ann. § 15-51-40 (Supp. 2011).

² While the trial court's order admittedly does not address the outrageous tort exception to arbitration, the Respondent presented this argument fully to the trial court and, thus, it is proper for this Court to consider the issue as an additional sustaining ground under Rule 220(c), SCACR. See also, I'On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 420-21, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000) ("it is not always necessary for a *respondent*—as the winning party in the lower court—to present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling on them in order to preserve an issue for appellate review. This approach is in keeping with the view, as expressed in Rule 220(c), SCACR, that an appellate court may affirm the lower court's judgment for any reason appearing in the record on appeal.").

Pursuant to this section, Pauline's heirs are entitled to damages arising out of her wrongful death, including pecuniary loss, mental shock and suffering, wounded feelings, grief and sorrow, loss of companionship, and deprivation of Pauline's experience, knowledge and judgment. See, e.g., Scott v. Porter, 340 S.C. 158, 530 S.E.2d 389 (Ct. App. 2000).

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